No. 71106-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GENE PALMER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN-Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
lila@washapp.org

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The State breached the plea agreement and violated Mr. Palmer's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by advocating for the imposition of over \$10,000 in restitution after agreeing to recommend "no restitution."

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The State must strictly comply with the terms of a plea agreement and its failure to do so violates the defendant's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. Here, the plea agreement plainly states that the parties would jointly recommend "no restitution," but after the court indicated it was inclined to order restitution, the prosecutor advocated for the imposition of over \$10,000 in restitution. Did the prosecutor breach the plea agreement and violate Mr. Palmer's right to due process?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State and Gene Palmer entered into a plea agreement under which Mr. Palmer agreed to plead guilty to one count of False Information by a Claimant in exchange for the State recommending six months of confinement and "[n]o restitution." CP 101-05. The prosecutor at first complied with this agreement, telling the court:

Your Honor, the parties have an agreed recommendation to the court of six months. The defendant's already served six months on this particular offense. We're not asking the court to order restitution in this case. It's my understanding restitution was repaid to DSHS already, and the restitution to L&I has been ordered in a civil hearing, and that restitution has already been litigated along with the civil penalty.

RP (10/27/11) 10. The prosecutor further explained that because restitution is not dischargeable in bankruptcy, it could be recouped from future benefits. RP (10/27/11) 10.

The judge was unsatisfied with this remedy, stating that he preferred to have the option of threatening people with jail for failure to pay. RP (10/27/11) 10. The court accordingly scheduled a restitution hearing, stating:

[T]his is my duty, not the State, and I can order a restitution hearing and I can have these fraud investigators show up and tell me in person why they think there is no restitution when I'm sitting here reading an affidavit of probable cause that says there was \$13,000 that was taken.

RP (10/27/11) 13.

Mr. Palmer waived his presence at the restitution hearing, with the understanding that the attorneys were still complying with the plea agreement and recommending no restitution. RP (11/10/11) 21-22; RP (10/8/13) 4-5. Defense counsel reminded the court that "the whole basis of the plea of guilty here, the basis of that was this agreement that there would be no restitution." RP (11/10/11) 24. The State, however, filed a

written memo and made an oral presentation urging the court to impose over \$10,000 in restitution. CP 59-80; RP (11/10/11) 23-24, 30-31, 37-39.

Although defense counsel's primary position was that there should be no restitution, his alternative argument was that Mr. Palmer should pay approximately \$4,000, not \$10,000. Mr. Palmer had already paid back over \$7,000 and he was unable to work during a significant portion of the periods the State represented that he was able to work. RP (11/10/11) 27-29, 32. The prosecutor fought this alternative argument as well, insisting that "we come up with a much higher number than defense counsel." RP (11/10/11) 31.

The court ruled in favor of the State, and set restitution in the amount of \$10,929.93. RP (11/10/11) 41; CP 17.

Mr. Palmer did not pay the restitution. The State moved to modify the sentence, asking the court to impose jail time for the failure to pay. CP 6. Mr. Palmer appeared at the hearing *pro se*, and said "I don't have any restitution. ... I pleaded my case out for no restitution." RP (9/17/13) 3. The court continued the hearing so counsel could be appointed for Mr. Palmer. RP (9/17/13) 7.

At the next hearing, Mr. Palmer again insisted he did not owe any restitution. His newly appointed attorney acknowledged that the judgment and sentence indicated that there would be a restitution hearing, but he

was concerned because "Mr. Palmer indicates that he never agreed to restitution on the plea form itself or on the plea itself. And the plea form does indicate no restitution which was signed by the judge." RP (10/8/13) 4.

Given the uncertainty surrounding the issue, the court said, "I'm not inclined to try to impose any kind of punitive sanctions or anything like that at this point given the posture of the case and the apparent questions that have arisen." RP (10/8/13) 10. The State agreed that the court did not need to impose sanctions, but stated that because Mr. Palmer insisted he had no restitution, there should be "a clear order from the court that the defendant has to pay this." RP (10/8/13) 11.

The parties argued about what monthly payment amount the court should set. RP (10/8/13) 14-15. Mr. Palmer himself spoke, and again said, "I pleaded it out. No restitution. I made sure of that. He agreed." RP (10/8/13) 16.

The court ordered Mr. Palmer to pay 40 dollars per month. RP (10/8/13) 19; CP 3-5. Mr. Palmer appealed from the order entered on October 8, 2013. CP 1-2. Concurrent with this brief, Mr. Palmer has also filed a motion to enlarge the time to file a notice of appeal from the underlying restitution order, because Mr. Palmer did not knowingly waive the right to appeal that order.

D. ARGUMENT

The restitution order should be vacated and the case remanded for a new hearing before a different judge because the prosecutor breached the plea agreement by arguing in favor of over \$10,000 in restitution after promising to request "no restitution."

1. A prosecutor breaches a plea agreement and violates a defendant's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by failing to comply strictly with the terms of the agreement.

"A plea agreement is a contract, and the government is held to its literal terms." *United States v. Alcala-Sanchez*, 666 F.3d 571, 575 (9th Cir. 2012). "[W]hen a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled." *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 262, 92 S.Ct. 495, 30 L.Ed.2d 427 (1971). The government's strict compliance with the agreement is essential "because it ensures that a defendant gets the benefit of his or her bargain – the presentation of a 'united front' to the court." *Alcala-Sanchez*, 666 F.3d at 575.

Although a plea agreement is a contract, it is also much more. Plea bargaining "is an essential component of the administration of justice." *Santobello*, 404 U.S. at 260. Plea agreements implicate the accused's fundamental right to due process, and a prosecutor's breach of the plea

agreement violates the Fourteenth Amendment. State v. Sledge, 133
Wn.2d 828, 839, 947 P.2d 1199 (1997); United States v. De la Fuente, 8
F.3d 1333, 1336 (9th Cir. 1993); U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

In construing a plea agreement, a reviewing court determines what the defendant reasonably understood to be the terms of the agreement when he pleaded guilty. *De la Fuente*, 8 F.3d at 1337. Where the terms are ambiguous, "the government ordinarily must bear responsibility for any lack of clarity." *Id.* at 1338; *accord United States v. Camarillo-Tello*, 236 F.3d 1024, 1027 (9th Cir. 2001) ("Ambiguities are construed in favor of the defendant"). Furthermore, although the prosecutor has a duty to participate in sentencing and answer the court's questions candidly, "the State has a concomitant duty not to undercut the terms of the agreement explicitly or by conduct evidencing an intent to circumvent the terms of the plea agreement." *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840.

 The prosecutor breached the plea agreement and violated Mr. Palmer's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by advocating for over \$10,000 in restitution after agreeing to request "no restitution."

The prosecutor in this case breached the plea agreement and violated Mr. Palmer's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. The terms of the plea agreement clearly called for the State to recommend no restitution, because Mr. Palmer had already repaid DSHS and the

restitution owed to Labor & Industries was being addressed in civil proceedings. CP 101-05; RP (10/27/11) 10. Nevertheless, at the hearing the prosecutor recommended over \$10,000 in restitution. CP 59-80; RP (11/10/11) 23-24, 30-31, 37-39.

To be sure, the court had indicated that it was inclined to order restitution notwithstanding any agreement, and the prosecutor was obligated to participate in the hearing and answer any of the court's questions truthfully. *See Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840; *State v. Talley*, 134 Wn.2d 176, 178, 949 P.2d 358 (1998). But this does not absolve the State of its duty to comply with the terms of the agreement. *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840. Although a prosecutor may participate in a court-ordered evidentiary hearing, he or she is still "obliged to make the agreed upon sentencing recommendation." *Talley*, 134 Wn.2d at 186-87.

Here, the prosecutor did not make the agreed upon recommendation. Instead, the State affirmatively argued in favor of restitution, and even fought Mr. Palmer's attempts at a fallback position of \$4,000 in restitution. CP 59-80; RP (11/10/11) 23-24, 30-31, 37-39. The prosecutor insisted, "we come up with a much higher number than defense counsel." RP (11/10/11) 31. The prosecutor took an adversarial position throughout the hearing, but Mr. Palmer was entitled to "the presentation of a 'united front' to the court." *Alcala-Sanchez*, 666 F.3d at 575. There can

be no doubt that the State breached the plea agreement in this case by urging the court to impose restitution – and to impose a large sum – after agreeing to recommend no restitution. *See Talley*, 134 Wn.2d at 187 (State may participate in hearing and present evidence to assist court, but may not, through words or conduct, contradict the agreed recommendation).

Even if the terms of the plea agreement or the prosecutor's actions were ambiguous, reversal would be required because ambiguities must be resolved in favor of the defendant. In *Mondragon*, for example, the plea agreement provided that the government "would make no recommendation regarding sentence." *United States v. Mondragon*, 228 F.3d 978, 979 (9th Cir. 2000). Consistent with this agreement, the prosecutor did not technically request any particular sentence at the sentencing hearing. However, he rebutted the defendant's assertion that all of his prior crimes were "petty in nature," by stating "we just point out to the Court the serious nature of some of the listed offenses in there." *Id.* The trial court did not think that this comment constituted a "recommendation regarding sentence," but, contrary to the defendant's request, it imposed a sentence at the top of the applicable sentencing range. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals reversed. Even though the government claimed it was not recommending a sentence but merely correcting factual misstatements, "the comments could have been made for only one purpose: to influence the district court to impose a harsher sentence than that suggested by appellant's counsel." *Id.* at 980. The appellate court accordingly held that the prosecutor's action constituted a "recommendation regarding sentencing," which violated the plea agreement. *Id.* at 980-81.

Similarly, in *Sledge*, the prosecutor technically complied with an agreement to recommend a particular sentence. *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 831. But the prosecutor also called two witnesses who advocated an exceptional sentence based on several aggravating factors, and the prosecutor discussed these aggravating factors in summation. *Id.* at 833-838. Although the prosecutor concluded his remarks by again advocating for the agreed-upon sentence, the court imposed an exceptional sentence. *Id.* at 838.

The Supreme Court reversed, holding the State breached the plea agreement. *Id.* at 843. The Court noted that "a conflict may result when the State assumes the role of presenting evidence to a court that may contradict the State's sentencing recommendation" *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 843 n.7. However, given the paramount due process rights of a

defendant, the State nevertheless "may not act so as to undermine" the plea agreement. *Id.* "The trial court has ample means for eliciting evidence and taking testimony that need not involve the State in conflict of interest." *Id.*

The prosecutor correctly struck this balance in *State v. Van Buren*, 112 Wn. App. 585, 49 P.3d 966 (2002). There, the State agreed to recommend a standard-range sentence of 292 months. *Id.* at 589. The prosecutor did so, but after the court read a letter from the victim's mother, the judge asked if the attorneys could corroborate one of the statements in the letter. *Id.* at 590. The prosecutor asked the court not to order him to present evidence on that issue, in light of the plea agreement. *Id.* at 591. The court nevertheless ordered an evidentiary hearing. *Id.* at 592.

In a memorandum in response to the court's order, the prosecutor recommended a 292-month sentence, stated that he would participate in the evidentiary hearing only if the court ordered him to do so, and said that he would limit this participation to avoid compromising the plea agreement.

Van Buren, 112 Wn. App. at 593. The prosecutor provided the requested evidence, and also questioned the witnesses after the court ordered him to do so. *Id.* at 593-96. But at the close of evidence, the prosecutor still recommended a 292-month sentence. *Id.* at 596.

This Court held the prosecutor did not breach the plea agreement, and properly walked the difficult line discussed in *Talley* and *Sledge. Van Buren*, 112 Wn. App. at 598-99. Importantly, although the prosecutor presented the evidence the court requested, he "continued to request the standard range sentence as agreed to in the plea agreement and continued to assert that this sentence was appropriate despite the court's apparent interest in examining additional facts." *Id.* at 599.

In contrast, in this case the prosecutor did *not* continue to assert that the agreed amount of restitution was appropriate. To the contrary, he repeatedly urged imposition of over \$10,000 in restitution. Although the sentencing court requested evidence regarding loss amount, the prosecutor did not simply present evidence, but improperly undermined the plea agreement by advocating for the imposition of over \$10,000 in restitution after agreeing to recommend that no restitution at all be imposed. As in *Sledge* and *Mondragon*, the breach violated Mr. Palmer's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.

3. The remedy is vacation of the restitution order and remand for a hearing before a different judge.

Where the State breaches a plea agreement, the defendant has the choice to either withdraw his plea or receive specific performance of the agreement. *State v. Harrison*, 148 Wn.2d 550, 557, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003).

"[T]he defendant is entitled to a remedy which restores him to the position he occupied before the State breached." *Id.*

Mr. Palmer requests specific performance of the plea agreement.

That remedy "requires the State to make its promised recommendation" at a new hearing. *Harrison*, 148 Wn.2d at 557.

Furthermore, a different judge should preside over the new hearing. *Id.*; *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 846 n.9 (we "provide for a new judge at the disposition hearing in light of the trial court's already-expressed views on the disposition"); *Alcala-Sanchez*, 666 F.3d at 577 (Remanding for resentencing before a different judge – regardless of the prior judge's impartiality – because it is necessary "to eliminate the impact of the government's prior mistake and breach").

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Palmer asks this Court to vacate the restitution order and remand for a hearing before a different judge.