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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Palmer's Appeal Should be Dismissed Because it is Time
Barred and He Has Failed to Establish Any Extraordinary 
Circumstances Which Warrant Expanding the Time for Filing 
the Appeal. 

Palmer's Motion to Expand Appeal should be denied because his 

appeal is time-barred under Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure 

(RAP) 18.8(b).5 Palmer was specifically aware of the RAP's concomitant 

time constraints since he was specifically notified of this at the time of his 

plea and they are in the public domain. CP at 89. Palmer acknowledged 

and accepted this time constraint when he signed the Judgment and 

Sentence, wherein Paragraph 5.8 states that the defendant has 30 days to 

appeal before the right to appeal is "IRREVOCABLY WAIVED." 

CP at 89 (emphasis in original). 

Since Palmer's sole issue on appeal is the restitution order entered 

two years and four months prior to the notice of appeal, and Palmer has 

not shown any extraordinary circumstances as required under RAP 18.8(b) 

for this Court to hear an untimely appeal, this Court should deny Palmer's 

Motion to Expand Appeal and grant the State's Motion to Dismiss. 

5 See State' s Answer to Motion to Expand Notice to Include Restitution Order 
and Motion to Dismiss, filed May 19, 2014. 

11 



B. The State Did Not Breach the Plea Agreement by Participating 
in the Court's Restitution Hearing, Answering the Trial 
Court's Direct Questions, and Correcting a Factual 
Misstatement, While Maintaining Its Plea Recommendation of 
No Restitution. 

A plea agreement IS a contract between the State and the 

defendant. State v. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d 828, 838, 947 P.2d 1199 (1997). 

Since a defendant gives up constitutional rights by accepting a plea 

bargain, the State's sentencing recommendation to the court must adhere 

to the terms of the agreement. Id. at 839. Nevertheless, "[the State] is 

obliged to act in good faith, participate in the sentencing proceedings, 

answer the court's questions candidly in accordance with [the duty of 

candor towards the tribunal] and, consistent with RCW 9.94A.460, not 

hold back relevant information regarding the plea agreement." !d. at 840. 

The State, as an officer of the court, has a duty of candor toward the 

tribunal under the Rules of Professional Conduct 3.3, and has an ethical 

obligation to answer questions honestly and correct factual inaccuracies. 

See United States v. Mondragon, 228 F.3d 978, 980 (9th Cir. 2000). 

The State does not breach a plea agreement by participating in 

court proceedings. State v. Talley, 134 Wn.2d. 176,185-186,949 P.2d 

358 (1998). While the State may not, through words or deeds contradict 

the agreed recommendation, the State, represented by the prosecutor, is 

obliged to participate and present evidence to help the Court make its 
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decision. Id. at 185-186. Further, "[p ]resenting evidence that will help the 

court make a decision does not amount to advocating against its earlier 

recommendation. Thus it does not violate the terms of the plea 

agreement." Talley, 134 Wn.2d at 186 (quoting State v. Talley, 83 Wn. 

App. 750, 759, 923 P.2d 721 (1996)). 

"[N]o rule of general application" exists "to guide an appellate 

court in deternlining whether the State adhered to or undercut a plea 

agreement." State v. Van Buren, 101 Wn. App. 206, 215, 2 P.3d 991 

(2000) (Van Buren I) (internal quotations omitted). Courts review the 

totality of a prosecutor's actions and comments from the entire sentencing 

record to determine whether a prosecutor breached a plea agreement using 

an objective standard. State v. Jerde, 93 Wn. App. 774, 780, 782, 

970 P.2d 781 (1999). 

The parties agree that "the court indicated that it was inclined to 

order restitution notwithstanding any agreement[.]" Brief of Appellant 

(Br. App.) at 7. The parties also agree that the State had an obligation to 

participate in the restitution hearing and answer the trial court's questions 

candidly. Br. App. at 7. The prosecutor in this case did just that. The 

State, in accordance with the plea agreement, asked the court to order "no 

restitution" and went into detail as to why the State was not requesting that 

restitution be ordered. RP (10/27114) at 9-11, 15-16; CP at 92-108. 
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Despite this agreed recommendation, the trial court ordered counsel to 

provide an accounting of what Palmer owed the victim in order to 

determine what restitution, if any, should be ordered. RP (10127111) at 17. 

Similar to Allen, Maldonado, and Van Buren II, discussed below, 

the State provided the requested accounting neutrally and briefly and did 

not ask the court to impose restitution in its memorandum. 

United States v. Allen, 434 F.3d 1166 (9th Cir. 2006); United States v. 

Maldonado, 215 F.3d 1046 (9th Cir. 2000); State v. Van Buren, 

112 Wn. App. 585, 49 P.3d 966 (2002) (Van Buren II); RP (11110111) 

at 23, 30-32; CP at 59-80. At the restitution hearing, the State reiterated 

that it "provided the briefing and documents to the court based upon the 

court's request for a determination of what restitution, if any, is owing." 

RP (11/10111) at 23. At no time did the State ask the trial court to order 

restitution. RP (11110111) at 23,30-32. 

Palmer's argument, that the State breached the plea agreement by 

affirmatively arguing for restitution and by not presenting a unified front, 

is not substantiated by the record. Br. App. at 6-7. To the contrary, the 

totality of the sentencing records show that the State, through its 

memorandum and statements in court, asked the court not to impose 

restitution while complying with its ethical obligations to honestly answer 
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the court's direct questions. RP (10127/11) at 9-11, 15-16; RP (11110111) 

at 23, 30-32; CP at 59-80. 

Palmer claims the State breached the plea agreement when it 

advised the court "we come up with a much higher number than defense." 

RP (11110111) at 31, Br. App. at 3,7. Palmer mischaracterizes the State's 

position by relying on this partial quote and taking it out of context. The 

"we come up with a much higher number than defense counsel" statement 

was made to account for the differing figures, first by correcting the 

factual misstatement made by Palmer's trial attorney, and then to explain 

the differing accounting methods. Specifically, Palmer's counsel 

incorrectly advised the court that L&I had not subtracted the recoupment 

of the over $7,000 permanent partial disability award from the outstanding 

monies owing to L&I. RP (1111 0111) at 29-31. Then, to explain to the 

court how the parties came up with different amounts owing to L&I, the 

prosecutor said: 

And the reason that we come up with a much higher 
number than defense counsel is because the orders that are 
setting forth what the amount is owed as attached in Exhibit 
A and B, show that these are the times that they [L&I] 
knew that the defendant was working or capable of 
working. 

RP (1111 0111) at 31. 
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Further, this quote is merely a portion of a fuller accounting 

showing how L&I concluded that the restitution amount in this case 

totaled $10,929.93. The prosecutor did not ask for this higher amount or 

any amount of restitution, she simply pointed out the differences in the 

parties accounting, so that the court could make an informed decision. 

RP (1111 0/11) at 31. This presentation of the accounting evidence 

proffered to help the trial court decide what, if any, restitution was owing, 

does not amount to advocating against the State's recommendation. The 

prosecutor's statement, therefore, did not violate the terms of the plea 

agreement. See Talley, 134 Wn. 2d at 186. (Presenting evidence that will 

help the court make a decision does not amount to advocating against an 

earlier recommendation therefore does not violate the terms of the plea 

agreement. ) 

The instant case is similar to Van Buren II in that both defendants 

entered an Alford plea and the court, after reviewing the agreed factual 

basis for the plea agreement, ordered the prosecutor to participate in an 

evidentiary hearing regarding sentencing. Van Buren II, 

112 Wn. App. 585. The Court of Appeals in Van Buren II found that the 

prosecutor did not breach the plea agreement by participating in the 

evidentiary hearing and calling witnesses since the prosecutor did not 

indicate whether or not he believed an exceptional sentence was 
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appropriate, did not independently draw the court's attention to 

aggravating factors, did not initiate or suggest the heating, and did not 

comment on the weight of the evidence. Id. at 599. Similar to 

Van Buren II, the prosecutor in this case did not indicate that she rethought 

the appropriateness of her recommendation, did not independently draw 

the court's attention to factors which would support the imposition of 

restitution, did not initiate or suggest the hearing, did not call witnesses, 

and did not comment on the weight of the evidence. RP (1111 0111) 23, 

30-32; CP at 59-80. Instead, she simply complied with the Court's 

directive to have L&I do an accounting of how much money Palmer failed 

to pay the agency. 

A breach of the plea agreement does not occur when the trial court 

imposes a sentence outside of the plea agreement after the prosecutor 

gives honest and direct answers to the court's direct questions, even 

though the court uses the information as a basis to impose a sentence 

outside of the plea agreement. See u.s. v. Allen, 434 F.3d 1166; see also 

u.s. v. Maldonado, 215 F.3d 1046. The Court in Allen found no breach 

when the prosecutor's answers to the Court, given during court-ordered 

proceedings, were "neutral and briefI.]" Allen, 434 F.3d at 1175. 

Similarly, the prosecutor in Palmer's case gave a neutral and brief 

accounting of restitution owing and did so only in response to the Court's 
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direct order to do so. RP (11110111) 23, 30-32; CP at 59-80. 

The prosecutor did not use inflammatory language, provide outside or 

additional aggravating facts, or ask the court to order restitution. 

RP (11110111) 23, 30-32; CP at 59-80. Rather, in this case, the trial court, 

utilizing the neutral and brief information provided by the parties, chose 

not to agree with the parties agreed recommendation and exercised its 

authority, under RCW 9.94A.750, to order Palmer to pay restitution. 

Unlike Mondragon, the case analogized by Palmer, the State 

complied with its obligation to provide the Court with the requested 

accounting and nothing more. In Mondragon, the appellate Court found a 

breach "because the prosecutor's comments did not provide the district 

judge with any new information or correct any factual inaccuracies, the 

comments [calling attention to the seriousness of that defendant's prior 

offenses] could have been made for only one purpose: to influence the 

district court to impose a harsher sentence than that suggested by 

appellant's counsel." Mondragon, 228 F.3d at 980. 

In the instant case, contrary to the facts in Mondragon, the State 

answered the trial court's specific questions by giving only pertinent 

specific facts of the accounting of the restitution amount outstanding; 

accounted for "the reason" why L&I came up with a "much higher number 

than defense counsel," and did not advocate for the court to impose either 
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amount. RP (11/10111) 23, 30-32; CP at 59-80. In reviewing the totality 

of the sentencing record, the State's words and deeds at the plea, 

sentencing, and restitution hearing can only be construed as mere 

participation, not advocacy for restitution. 

Palmer's second argument seems to be that the State did not 

present a "united front" because the State did not agree with his 

accountings of restitution. Br. App. at 7. This argument fails since the 

State, as an officer of the court, has a duty of candor toward the tribunal 

under Rules of Professional Conduct 3.3, and has an ethical obligation to 

answer honestly and to correct factual inaccuracies. Mondragon, 228 F.3d 

at 980. The prosecutor's answer and the fulfillment of her ethical 

responsibilities to honestly answer the court's questions cannot form the 

basis for finding that the she breached the plea agreement. 

A prosecutor does not breach a plea agreement by correcting 

a factual misstatement smce the State has a "duty to ensure that the 

court has complete and accurate information, enabling the court to 

impose an appropriate sentence." Maldonado, 215 F.3d at 1051-1052. 

In Maldonado, the Court found that a prosecutor did not breach the plea 

agreement when he provided the Court with the corrected offender level. 

Id. Similarly in the present case, the prosecutor provided the Court with 

the correct calculation of outstanding restitution as requested by the Court. 
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Since the prosecutor simply complied with her obligation to participate in 

the hearing and to ensure the Court had complete and accurate 

information, this Court should deny Palmer's appeal and affirm the 

restitution order. 

Contrary to Palmer's current contention, Palmer's trial attorney, at 

the time of the hearings, clearly believed the State was not asking for 

restitution or breaching the plea agreement. First, at the beginning of his 

statement to the trial court at the restitution hearing, Palmer's trial attorney 

stated, "I want to thank the State for agreeing in the sentencing agreement, 

the whole basis of the plea of guilty here, the basis of that was this 

agreement that there would be no restitution." RP (11110111) at 24. Then, 

after hearing all statements by the prosecutor at the restitution hearing, 

including the quote currently utilized by Palmer, Palmer's trial attorney 

stated that "[t]here is no restitution requested by the State of Washington 

here." RP (11110111) at 35-36. 

This unified belief that the prosecutor was not requesting 

restitution or breaching the plea agreement is clearly shown by the 

prosecutor asking that restitution not be ordered, by the trial court 

reiterating that the State's recommendation was for "no restitution[,]" by 

the trial court's statement that it was "shocked" the State was not asking 

for restitution, and by Palmer's trial attorney repeated comments that the 
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State was not asking for restitution and was not "reneging" on the plea 

agreement. RP (10/27111) at 9-11, 15-16; RP (11110111) at 24, 35-36, 

39-40. 

A full reVIew of the totality of a prosecutor's actions and 

comments from the entire sentencing record shows that the prosecutor did 

not breach the plea agreement. Rather, the prosecutor supported its 

recommendation, gave all the reasons why the Court should not order 

restitution, and only in response to a court order provided the trial court 

with the bare and neutral facts so the Court could make an informed 

decision. Since, upon review of the totality of the sentencing record, the 

prosecutor did not by words or deeds breach the plea agreement, the Court 

should deny Palmer's appeal. 

C. If This Court finds that Palmer's Appeal is Timely and the 
Prosecutor Breached the Plea Agreement, the Requested 
Remedy of Vacating the Restitution Order and Remanding the 
Case for a Restitution Hearing with a Different Judge is 
Appropriate. 

If this Court grants Palmer's Motion to Expand Appeal, denies the 

State's Motion to Dismiss, and finds that the State breached the plea 

agreement, the State concurs that the remedy of vacating the Restitution 

Order and remanding the case for a new restitution hearing before a 

different judge is appropriate'. 
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v. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the State asks this Court to deny 

Palmer's Motion to Expand Appeal and grant the State's motion to 

dismiss or deny his appeal. 
1h